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Congregationalism in York

George Whitfield preached in York in 1749, and the congregation founded by him built its first chapel in College Street. Between 1780 and 1796 a group of Independents (later known as Congregationalists) met at Jubbergate. They had built a substantial chapel there embracing pews, stalls and a gallery, which could seat between 400 and 500 people. But at that time the congregation was both poor and small in number; between 1799 and 1814 only thirty-six families brought children to be baptised. This led to the chapel falling on hard times and the West Riding Itinerant Society (whose aim was to consolidate Congregationalism in the County) advised selling the Jubbergate chapel and building a replacement in Lendal.

It was at this time that the dominant figure of architect James Pritchett appeared on the scene. He was considered to be the father of Independency in 19th Century York and,  with a Mr Watson, he was instrumental in the planning and building of the Lendal chapel in 1816. It was a substantial building and was the first place of public worship in the City to be lit by gas. The total cost, including pews and galleries, was £3000, most of which was funded by a bank loan. This building can still be seen opposite the Judges’ Lodgings (now a hotel).

From 1822 the new chapel experienced a period of great prosperity under the ministry of 23-year old James Parsons who came direct from Idle Academy, and during his ministry a small auxiliary chapel was opened in the working class district of Walmgate for Sunday worship.

By 1837 Lendal chapel was becoming overcrowded, with over 1100 (not all members) at evening service!  Members totalled 447, with as many again adherents. The overcrowding led to the building of another, and larger, chapel designed by James Pritchett in the classical Greek style at a site named St Saviour’s Place which looked down St Saviourgate and was close to a disused Wesleyan chapel in Aldwark.  James Parsons, along with 368 members of the Lendal chapel moved to this new chapel (which had been called Salem) two years later in 1839. This left only 79 members at Lendal with James Pritchett - who had become chief deacon and secretary by then - to lead them. Charles Payton became minister from later in 1839 until 1844, a time that saw membership rise to 141 before falling again in the ensuing years.

After Charles Payton left there was a succession of ministers, each staying for an average of three years - due in part to quarrels within the congregation, and between the deacons and Pritchett.  Meanwhile the Salem chapel thrived, with about 60 new members a year joining in the first decade, including a steady stream from Lendal.

In 1866 a man named Whitwell joined a group of Baptists in a church they had built in Priory Street, becoming a founder member and church secretary. But in 1870 he followed his wife back to Lendal chapel.

Between the two World Wars both Lendal and Salem became redundant. At an annual chapel meeting held in 1920 Lendal members agreed to the setting up of a band of chapel members and deacons who pledged themselves to ‘grumble and listen to grumbling about chapel and school affairs for at least a year’!   But during this year the financial situation at Lendal was becoming serious enough for the bank to become worried about repayment of the loan because of the mounting financial deficits. This led in 1927 to the resignation of W. Thompson-Armstrong, who had become minister following the death four years previously of James Brighting (see list of ministers in the appendix), and discussions were put in train about the possible amalgamation of the Salem and Lendal chapels.  Some joint services were held, and the amalgamation was agreed in principle. However, Lendal had by this time decided that its future lay in the new and expanding suburbs of the city, and they expected Salem to support them in this venture. They were still looking at this idea when the full burden of debts forced Lendal to act alone. Lendal chapel had to be sold, leading to its members being transferred as associates of Salem until a new chapel could be built in the suburbs. The closing service at Lendal was held on July 14th 1929.

This led to great activity to find a suitable site for a new building in the suburbs. Several areas were looked at including sites in Acomb, Boroughbridge Road, Tang Hall Lane, and Burton Stone Lane. The Tang Hall Lane site was turned down because it was within the bounds of Salem, and after lengthy discussion the site in Burton Stone Lane was approved. In 1933 a plot of land opposite Shipton Street was acquired in an area where a small estate of new semi-detached houses were being built. For a time, the sixteen members met for services and other church activities in a room in Falsgrave Crescent. The foundation stone of the new building was laid on Thursday July 19th, 1934 under the chairmanship of Mr W Mercer Wade MA LL B of Ilkley. Stones were laid by Mr T Clark (as representative of the old Lendal church), Revd TT James MA (for the Congregational Union of England and Wales), and Revd J F Shepherd MA (for the Yorkshire Congregational Union).  A supper in the Friends’ Adult School followed the service - at a charge of one shilling each! The new building was named New Lendal Congregational Church, and opened in December 1935, the membership rising to forty-three in its first year. At about the same time, the Salem chapel began to run into difficulties and was forced to consider closure under pressure from the bank.  The Second World War intervened with the War Department taking possession of the building, handing it back to chapel members in 1962. It was finally sold in 1963 and demolished in July of that year.  (It is perhaps worth recording that during the years between 1939 and 1962 the remaining twenty-five or so members of Salem chapel met for afternoon services in the Rechabite Buildings (Friends’ Meeting House) until they finally agreed to join New Lendal in 1962.)

The new church had its ups and downs for quite a few years, and for about two years (1940-42) was served by local Methodist preachers. In 1942 Revd Fred Lambert Carter became minister, but there were only about six full-time members at the time. Over the next nineteen years under his guidance, membership rose to 162. It was at this time that Mr Carter senior brought the members of 7th Boys’ Brigade Company to join the church, forming a nucleus of young people. But deaths, the movement of families, and the calling up of members, membership was down to eighty-nine when Lambert Carter left in 1961.

After a short interval church members called Revd Norman Bedford-Pace to be its minister, and it was during this time that the ‘Clifford Street Group’ joined New Lendal, leaving it as the only church in York serving Congregationalists. Mr Pace retired due to ill health in 1968.

In 1969, the church treasurer, Mr Fred Allinson, took the reins to guide the church until March of that year when Revd John Henderson became the third minister after the war years. He took the first service on Easter Sunday of that year, retiring in 1971 when the membership was seventy-one.

In July 1971, Mr Allinson, the Treasurer, again led church meetings and Mrs Marion Baker, as secretary, made all the arrangements for preachers. It was during this period in the Church’s history that talks were started which were to lead to the joining together of the Congregational and Presbyterian Church of England. October 5th 1971 saw the ratification of that Union and the United Reformed Church came into being in 1972. 

As a result of the union, and according to the legislation of the United Reformed Church, the Revd A J Wells of Selby church became Interim Moderator at New Lendal. This was to be for a period of one year. At the beginning of 1974 he took oversight of the church (again according to the legislation of the URC). The Revd Adrian Wells continued to be oversight minister until 1979 when, at a meeting of ministers, it was found that the Revd A G Burroughs, who had oversight of a church in Cottingley (near Hull), and the Revd A J Wells, were passing each other on their journeys leading to unnecessary mileage. With the agreement of all churches and the blessing of the District they exchanged their oversight charges!

New Lendal now came to be under the ministry of St Columba’s, resulting in several joint meetings, the two churches still retaining their individuality.  In March 1982 Mr Burroughs left to take another appointment, the two churches forming a committee to seek a new minister. This led to Revd Adrian Wells again being Interim Moderator (and Mr Geoffrey Lawrence, also of Selby church, being Interim Moderator at St Columba’s).

During 1982 the two churches met separately for services by an interested minister, Revd A J Fraser, the outcome of which was his being called to serve them. This he did on March 10th 1983, remaining with the churches for four years, resigning because of his wife’s ill health.

The church’s golden jubilee was celebrated in 1984 with a ‘Family’ social on July 11th, which was attended by the first four members on the church roll (Mr George Birkby, Mr Arthur Lofthouse, Mrs Helen Lofthouse, and Mr Charles Dobson), together with secretary, Mrs Marion Baker and the minister. The guest of honour was the chairman of the East Yorkshire District, the Revd Philip Griffiths.

Once again the church found itself without a leader and with Mr Lawrence’s Interim Moderatorship again until 1988 when the churches called Revd Ambrose D Wright to the Pastorate. Due to the deaths of several noteworthy members, New Lendal’s membership began to fall again, dropping to twenty-three, including four adherents. In 1991 talks about amalgamation were started between St Columba’s and New Lendal, and in 1992 both churches passed resolutions about this at church meetings. Plans for amalgamation were well in hand when, in 1993, Mr Wright left to take up an offer from Plymouth.

Revd Michael J Wear of Selby church took over as Interim Moderator at New Lendal and Mr Lawrence returned to St Columba’s. Membership continued to decline until, in 1994, there were only eight members including the minister and organist attending services. This led to the speeding up of amalgamation plans, leading to New Lendal resolving that amalgamation should take place from March 1st 1994. The last New Lendal Elders’ meeting took place on Tuesday 22nd February 1994, heralding a new venture in the life of the churches in York. 

This record would not be complete without some personal reminiscences which ‘add flesh’ to the bald statistics. Charles Dobson recalls the loyal workers over very many years - men and women. There was, for example, a very lively Ladies’ Guild; the ‘Three Graces’; the four men who ran whist drives every week; a lively junior church - and many more. Charles recalls the church full to overflowing for special services. And he remembers the ladies inviting some of the men to join them in forming a drama group which subsequently produced many plays. Young members put on Nativity plays and Christmas pantomimes. As he put it “There was something going on almost every day!’. He recalls the inevitable jumble sales, Christmas bazaars and summer fetes. And he ends by paying tribute to three outstanding treasurers: Mr P Morrell, Mr F Allinson, and Mr G Pritchard.

Lists of Ministers

Lendal Chapel
1816
Church opened


1816
No name available

1822

1822
James Parsons

1839

1839
Charles Payton

1844

1845
Richard Soper

1847

1848
C W Evan


1851

1853
Stephen Dobson

1855

1856
Thomas R Hoskins

1860

1861
A B Attenborough

1863

1863
Thomas Morgan

1869

1870
Charles Illingworth

1887

1888
Russell Thomas

1895

1895
W S Foggitt


1901

1902
A T Wisemann

1905

1905
James Brighting

1923

1923
W Thompson-Armstrong
1927

1927
J H Tretheray


1929

1929 Church closed

New Lendal
1934
Church opened


1934
Frank L Wallace

1937

1937
William West


1942

1942
Revd F Lambert Carter
1961

1961
Revd Norman Bedford-Pace1969

1969
Revd John Henderson
1971

1971
Vacant


1973

1973
Revd Adrian Wells

1979

1979
Revd Allan G Burroughs
1982

1982
Vacant


1983

1983
Revd Jack Fraser

1987

1987
Vacant


1988

1988
Revd Ambrose D Wright
1993

1993
Vacant


1995

1995 
Closed


